### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 1 2 Electronically Filed Oct 14 2020 12:12 p.m. 3 SEAN MAURICE DEAN, Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court Appellant, 4 No. 81209 VS. 5 AITOR NARVAIZA, ELKO COUNTY SHERIFF, 6 Respondent. 7 8 APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF 9 APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DENYING PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS 10 FOURTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 11 IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF ELKO 12 13 DAVID B. LOCKIE MARK S. MILLS Nev. Bar #003999 Nev. Bar #11660 14 LOCKIE & MACFARLAN, LTD. ELKO CO. DISTRICT ATTORNEY 540 Court Street, 2nd Floor 919 Idaho Street Elko, Nevada 89801 Elko, Nevada 89801 15 (775) 738-8084 (775) 738-3101 16 Attorneys for Respondent Attorne

### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

T	JONISDIC HONAL STATEMENT
2	The basis for the Supreme Court's or Court of Appeal's jurisdiction is
3	NRS 34.575(1). The order appealed from was filed on February 21, 2020.
4	The Notice of Appeal was filed on March 11, 2020. This is an appeal from
5	an Order Denying Post-Conviction Relief, Fourth Judicial District Court,
6	Department 1.
7	DATED this full day of October, 2020.
8	LOCKIE & MACFARLAN, LTD.
9	
10	Maria B. Lohi
	DAVID B. LOCKIE

DAVID B. LOCKIE Nevada Bar # 2384 919 Idaho Street Elko, Nevada 89801

(775) 738-8084

13

11

12

14

15

16

# **ROUTING STATEMENT**

-	
2	Pursuant to Rule 17(a) this matter is assigned to the Nevada Supreme
3	Court as it involves a post-conviction appeal of a category A felony.
4	DATED this 14 day of October, 2020.
5	LOCKIE & MACFARLAN, LTD.
6	Murid B. Lochie
7	DAVID B. LOCKIE
	Nevada Bar # 2384
8	919 Idaho Street
	Elko, Nevada 89801
9	(775) 738-8084
10	
11	
12	
13	
14	
15	
16	

#### I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the District Court's denial of a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus. Petitioner was found guilty at a jury trial, and was sentenced as follows:

COUNT 1: Attempted Murder With Use of a Deadly Weapon: 72-180 months, and a consecutive sentence of 48-120 for the enhancement.

COUNT 2: Battery With the Use of a Deadly Weapon Resulting in Substantial Bodily Harm: 48-120 months, consecutive to Count 2.

COUNT 5: Battery With a Deadly Weapon: 24-72 Months, consecutive to Count 1

Petitioner filed a direct appeal, for which the Court of Appeals issued an Order of Affirmance on January 25, 2019. Petitioner first filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus on November 11, 2917. On July 17, 2017, the

District Court declined to exercise jurisdiction and dismissed without prejudice on July 17, 2019 due to the pendency of the Direct Appeal.

Petitioner filed the instant Writ on April 16, 2019. The District Court conducted an evidentiary hearing on November 20-21, 2019, and issued an Order Denying Habeas Relief on April 24, 2020. This Appeal followed.

## II. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- **RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE** WHETHER PETITIONER A. ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL WHEN TRIAL COUNSEL'S BEHAVIOR **EXHIBITED** RACIST VIEWS, AND INTRODUCED PREJUDICIAL **MATTERS** OF **RACE** DURING THE TRIAL.
- B. WHETHER PETITIONER RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE

  ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL WHERE TRIAL COUNSEL DID

  NOT SEEK TO INTRODUCE EVIDENCE OF VIDEO

  INTERVIEWS OF HIS INTERVIEWS BY THE POLICE.

16

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. Factual Summary of the Events Giving Rise to the Prosecution.

This prosecution was based upon events of December 8, 2015, when Petitioner was alleged to use a knife to stab his girlfriend Denise Minter, and her ex-husband, Bert ("Duff") Minter outside of Denise's residence in Elko County.

Petitioner had come to Denise's residence (where Duff was staying at the time) to discuss their relationship. *Appellant's Appendix (hereinafter A.A.)*Vol. 2, p. 210. Matters became heated, and eventually resulted in a scenario whereby the prosecution argued that Petitioner stabbed Duff seven times, and Denise once above her left breast. *A.A. Vol. 2, pp. 211-212*. Petitioner denied stabbing either victim, contending that the Minters must have stabbed each other while trying to stab him during the course of a fight started by Duff. *A.A. Vol. 2, pp. 204, 210, 213, 215*.

The police recovered a knife that the prosecution theorized Petitioner used to stab the two individuals from the floor of the residence where

- B. The Jury Trial
- 1. Facts showing that defense counsel held racist views which affected his performance at trial.
- a. Petitioner is an African-American man. A.A. Vol. 2, p. 205. Petitioner's trial attorney was a white man. During the proceedings, Petitioner's attorney wrote the following words in a trial note: "Shenck is a nigger too." A.A. Vol. 2, p. 217. Mr. Shenck, a key witness for the prosecution, has clearly discernable features that identify his race as African-American. Besides Mr. Shenck, Petitioner was the only other African-American individual involved in the trial. Petitioner saw the note during a break in the trial At some point prior to sentencing, Petitioner wrote a letter to his attorney

1	accusing him of being a racist. His attorney wrote a letter in reply that, among
2	other things, disputed the racial significance of the note. But he also wrote:
3	"I've called you a lot worse names than that for getting hooked up and staying
4	with a 5'9" fat lady who sells dope and gambles away everything she's got."
5	A.A. Vol. 2, pp. 218, 220.
6	b. Petitioner testified that he told his attorney that he did not want
7	race to be involved in any way with the trial, because he did not want the all
8	white jury to think he was trying to play the race card. A.A. Vol. 2, p. 219;
9	A.A. Vol. 2, p. 177. Disregarding Petitioner's wishes, his trial attorney elected
10	to immediately inject the issue of race during the process of jury selection.
11	Q: Did anybody on [the] jury notice whether Mr. Dean is black or not?
12	Pretty clear, isn't it?
13	Anybody on the jury notice whether or not there is another black person in the room?
14	Pretty clear, isn't it?
15	Did you ever think you would be sitting as a juror with a <b>black guy</b> sitting in the defendant's box and you would be asked to be
16	fair about him?

Anybody thinks they can't be fair? 1 Are there any jurors sitting here who do not have some kind of 2 notion that black people have certain attributes that are widely known, from your television or things you have read or friends you have talked to? 3 You don't? 4 Is that right? 5 They all like watermelon, don't they? 6 Nobody ever heard that before? 7 Did you ever think about whether it's true or not? 8 Ladies and gentlemen, I have no means to know all of the things that are out there that one might assume about black people. I 9 can't know all the things. We know some of them. We know about the watermelon. 10 This case isn't about watermelon. If you have heard that they have an attribute of violence, that 11 they are sneaky, all of those things? Clearly, some of you have heard things like that about black people. Is there anybody who 12 can raise their hand and say they have never heard that? What we're trying to accomplish is Mr. Dean, we're not asking 13 you to fall in love with black people; we are not deciding anything like that. We're not asking you to be more than fair or fall over backward to pull Mr. Dean out of this. 14 But what we are asking is that when you hear evidence that triggers – just in your mind – that there is an attribute that black guys have that explains his conduct, we're asking you to do one 15 thing: Take one second and think about whether or not the evidence justifies that conclusion or whether you are just putting an assumption that you have heard sometime before in other 16

circumstances and applying it to Mr. Dean.

Is there anybody that thinks they can't or wouldn't or shouldn't do something like that? Does everybody see what I'm saying? Is it clear?

That you have assumptions about black people. They are in your head, I can't take them out. I don't know what all of them are. Everybody agrees that those assumptions are in there in some form or another in every one of you guys. Is that correct?

A.A. Vol. 1, pp. 38-39.

Only one prospective juror responded to any of Mr. Woodbury's questions about race.

That prospective juror assured that "we're all equal" and essentially that it would be unfair to make any assumptions about people based on their skin color. A.A. Vol. 2, p. 39...

c. Petitioner's attorney called him to testify at the trial. At the hearing, Petitioner testified that he was surprised because his attorney had done little to prepare his testimony. A.A. Vol. 2, p. 175. He was particularly surprised when his attorney proceeded to question him regarding his experience with knife fights A.A. Vol. 2, p. 37. He testified at the hearing that, before testifying (and while during the course of the trial) his attorney asked

1	about his kn	lowledge of knife fights. However, Petitioner testified that he was
2	not made av	vare that this would be included in his trial testimony, and that he
3	would neve	r have agreed to take the stand and answer such questions, because
4	of the poter	ntial for jurors to view growing up in a rough neighborhood and
5	being invol	ved in knife fights is associated with a stereotype that African
6	Americans	are violent. A.A. Vol. 2, p. 220.
7	Trial	Counsel admitted at the hearing that he was aware that this
8	testimony n	night further amplify notions of racial and cultural associations of
9	African-Am	nerican people and knives. A.A. Vol. 2, p. 140.
10	Q.	Mr. Dean, while you were being raised in Sacramento, California did you have - did you have friends or associates or people that
11	A:	you knew got in knife fights? Yes
12	Q:	Did you ever get in one?
13	A:	A few.
14	Q:	All right. Were you the person with the knife?
15	A:	No sir. Knives been pulled on me.

Ah. Based on that kind of knowledge, did you learn if you were Q: 1 going to hurt somebody real bad with a knife, maybe kill them, how would you go about doing that? 2 Try to puncture them and twist it and rip it, just try to - try to rip, A: try to rip something. 3 Okay, Is that something you have ever done? Q: 4 No, sir. A: 5 How do you know that's ho your are supposed to do it? Q: 6 That's how it has been done ever since I known people that get A: into knife fights. 7 IV. **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT** 8 Appellant (Petitioner below) received Ineffective Assistance of Counsel 9 under the 6th Amendment where his trial counsel wrote a trial note indicating 10 that both Petitioner and a Witness were "niggers." Trial counsel, during voire 11 dire, referred to Petitioner as a "black guy," asked prospective jurors whether 12 they heard that black people "like watermelon," and are "sneaky" and 13 "violent." With little preparation, trial counsel called Appellant to testify, and 14 elicited testimony regarding Appellant having been raised in a rough 15 neighborhood in Sacramento, his involvement in knife fights, and knowledge 16

of how one would go about effectively killing a person with a knife. This testimony inferred racial and cultural stereotypes regarding African Americans. The needless injection of racial stereotypes, and the crude manner in which it was done by trial counsel was so prejudicial, and done in such crude manner, that Petitioner was deprived of his Constitutional rights under the 6<sup>th</sup> Amendment.

Appellant received Ineffective Assistance of Counsel when trial counsel failed to introduce video taped evidence of his police interviews that would have rebutted the prosecution's theory that the crime was motivated by Appellant's deep seated anger with the victims.

#### V. ARGUMENT

A. Legal Standards for Ineffective Assistance of Counsel.

It is clear that a defendant has a Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel at trial. "The key to evaluating an ineffectiveness claim is whether the proper functioning of the adversarial process was so

undermined by counsel's conduct that the reviewing court cannot trust that the trial produced a just result." Foster v. State, 121 Nev. 165, 169 (2005) (citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984)). Under the test established in Strickland, to prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, "a claimant must make two showings." Id. (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687).

First, a claimant must show that counsel's performance was deficient. <u>Id</u>. In other words, a claimant must show that counsel's representation fell "below an objective standard of reasonableness." <u>Id</u>. (quoting <u>Evans v. State</u>, 117 Nev. 609, 622 (2001)). "The inquiry on review must be whether, in light of all the circumstances, counsel's assistance was reasonable." <u>Id</u>. (citing <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 688).

"Second, a claimant must show that counsel's 'deficient performance prejudiced the defense." <u>Id</u>. (quoting <u>Evans</u>, 117 Nev. at 622).

"Specifically, the claimant must show that there is a reasonable probability

that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." <u>Id</u>. "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." <u>Id</u>. (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694).

B. Petitioner Received Ineffective Assistance of Counsel Due to Trial
Counsel's Injection of Race Into The Proceedings.

In order to establish this claim, Petitioner must show that his attorney's trial performance was adversely affected by his racist views and that Petitioner was prejudiced as a result.

In assessing this claim, the District Court noted that it "understands the ugliness of the epithet that [trial counsel] wrote in his voir dire notes. Given the lack of other evidence that [trial counsel] is a racist and the context in which he wrote the epithet, one might infer that the note was the product of the attorney's consideration of uncomfortable questions about racial animus. Given [trial counsel's] failure to explain the note along those or other

reasonable lines, one might infer that [trial counsel] is a closet racist. A.A. Vol. 2, p. 222.

It is frankly astounding how the District Court could come to any conclusion other than trial counsel harbors racist views, relying on "a lack of other evidence." His trial counsel wrote a note that specifically stated "Shenck is a nigger too." When questioned at the hearing, trial counsel could offer no reasonable explanation for his words. They plainly state perhaps the most derogatory word in the English vocabulary that a white person can choose to express racial animus towards persons of African-American descent. Further, the "too" in that phrase conveys that Petitioner's trial counsel saw his client as a "nigger."

After the trial, Petitioner sent his attorney a letter complaining about the implication of racism against him found in the note. Rather than apologize, or offer any type of explanation, his attorney, in writing, chose to amplify the derogatory way in which he viewed his client. While he ostensibly disputed

the racial significance of the trial note, but also wrote: "I've called you a lot worse names than that for getting hooked up and staying with a 5'9" fat lady who sells dope and gambles away everything she's got." A.A. Vol. 2, pp. 218-220.

Any notion that the derogatory trial note should be chalked up as an error made in some spontaneous and unthoughtful moment is dispelled by what trial counsel wrote in response to his client's concerns about the note. Rather than apologizing, or offering any explanation, he proceeded to derogate and belittle his client even further. The letter was not penned during some heat of the moment at trial. Rather, trial counsel wrote it later with a full opportunity for reflection.

While it is true that Mr. Dean's letter to his trial counsel contained derogatory statements about him and others, his trial counsel is a trained and licensed professional, who swears an oath of fidelity to his client. Nothing in Mr. Dean's letter excuses that. While it may be true that the legal test that the court may employ to evaluate this claim is whether racism affected his

counsel's performance at trial, Petitioner respectfully suggests that this conduct should allow no space to draw any inferences favorable to trial counsel. In fact, it suggests that this court should draw inferences the other way.

Starting with voir dire during jury selection, and against his client's wishes, trial counsel chose to pursue the issue of race. While the District Court correctly cites authority for the proposition that a trial attorney has an obligation to employ a strategy calculated to ensure fair treatment by the jury in terms of race, those standards do not endorse any type of strategy. The one used by trial counsel in this case was overtly racist and provocative. There are many effective strategies that do not include, or require reference to the defendant as "a black guy." An effective strategy does not require using the idea that "black people like watermelon, or that black people may be seen as "sneaky or violent."

Only one of the prospective jurors chose to respond to trial counsel's strategy. Who knows that effect that may have had on the rest? The

methodology used in this case by trial counsel was so offensive that the court should draw no inferences that the silence of all but one prospective juror infers that the other jurors adopted the one's response. It is true that any prospective juror could have exposed racial prejudice by standing up and saying that they do think that African-Americans are generally sneaky and violent, and are particularly fond of watermelon. However, common sense dictates that people are generally reluctant to overtly announce the fact that they suffer from racial prejudice. There are certainly more professional means that could be used to elicit information regarding bias. Given the hard evidence that trial counsel harbored enormous disdain for his client, it may be fairly questioned as to why trial counsel chose not to use a more professional approach. Cynthia Lee, A New Approach To Voir Dire On Racial Bias, UC Irvine Law Review, Vol. 5; 843.

Petitioner respectfully suggests that trial counsel's racism also influenced the subject matter involved in his client's trial testimony. While some may urge this court to once again chalk the issue up to strategy, it defies

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

reason as to why counsel might choose to provide a jury with information that his client grew up in a rough neighborhood (and is presumably of rough character himself). He was familiar with, and a past participant in knife fighting - and particularly that his client had particular knowledge about how the most effective way that one could go about killing another with a knife.

On its face, this is strategy is so unsound that it should compel this court

On its face, this is strategy is so unsound that it should compel this court to draw other inferences. It is unsound because it established that the client was of rough character to start with due to his upbringing. Further, that he is no stranger to the use of knives during fights, and that he himself participated in such (although only to the extent of having knives pulled on him). The connection between this testimony and racism is obvious. Furthermore, trial counsel recognized the concern of potentially exposing the jury that information might further amplify notions of racial and cultural association of African-American people with violence and knives. *A.A. Vol. 2, p. 140*.

This court should accept Petitioner's testimony at the hearing that he was surprised by these questions, and that he would have refused to testify had

he known that his attorney intended to delve into that area. Common sense would dictate that a defendant would not be interested in telling a jury about his own rough character, prior knowledge and experience in knife fights, and how to best go about killing a person with a knife. This tactic was a matter of Trial Counsel's trial strategy. However, this strategy was so unusual and prejudicial, that it cannot be excused as merely "strategy." Petitioner testified at the hearing that he perceived the line of questions was the product of Trial Counsel's racism.

C. The Court Erred In Finding That Petitioner's Video Recorded Statements To The Police Were Not Hearsay.

At the hearing, Petitioner adduced evidence to counter testimony from Denise that Petitioner had been drinking at the time of the incident, and was enraged at the victims. *A.A. Vol. 2, p. 225*. The defense admitted body camera recordings of police interviews that took place at the scene, and while Petitioner was in the hospital, in support of that proposition. The court in

denying Habeas relief, found that the Petitioner's statements would have been inadmissible hearsay.

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