1			
2	IN THE SUPREME COURT	OF THE STATE OF NEVADA	
3		Electronically Filed Nov 30 2020 03:39	🤁 p.m.
4	SEAN MAURICE DEAN,	Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme	l .
5	Appellant,		
6	vs. C	CASE NO.81209	
7	THE STATE OF NEVADA,		
8	Respondent.		
9			
10	Appeal From The Fourth Judicial District Court Of The State of Nevada		
11	In And For The County Of Elko		
12	RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF		
13	THE HONORABLE AARON D. FORD ATTORNEY GENERAL OF NEVADA		
14	100 N. CARSON STREET CARSON CITY, NV 89701		
15	TYLER J. INGRAM	DAVID B. LOCKIE	
16	Elko County District Attorney's Office	State Bar Number: 2384 919 IDAHO STREET	
17	Mark S. Mills	ELKO, NV 89801 (775) 738-1928

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In this appeal, Dean argues that the district court erred in denying his Petition for a Writ of Habeas Corpus in the court below. Specifically, Dean contends that his trial attorney, Gary Woodbury, was ineffective for addressing the issue of racial prejudice during jury selection, and for asking Dean questions relating to Dean's knowledge of knife-fighting. Additionally, Dean argues that Woodbury was ineffective for failing to introduce into evidence at trial an officer's recorded interview with Dean at the hospital shortly after the incident that gave rise to this prosecution.

None of these arguments has any merit. With regards to Woodbury's handling of jury selection, Dean (an African American) was concerned about being tried by an all-white jury. In order to address that concern, Mr. Woodbury effectively and competently raised the issue of racial prejudice with the prospective jury panel. That was sound trial strategy. Mr. Woodbury's decision to ask Dean about his knowledge of knife-fighting was also a trial strategy, designed to rebut the State's argument that Dean intended to kill Bert Minter when he stabbed him.

Finally, Mr. Woodbury was not ineffective for failing to introduce into evidence the video recorded interview of Dean at the hospital, as the video would have done nothing to further his defense.

Finally, even if Mr. Woodbury was ineffective in any of the ways alleged by Dean, Dean suffered no prejudice as a result of Woodbury's performance, since the evidence of Dean's guilt was overwhelming. The testimony of multiple eye-witnesses (including eye witnesses other than the direct victims) established conclusively that Dean stabbed Bert and Denise Minter with a knife.

Dean's arguments on appeal are without merit, and the order of the district court should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

In his appeal, Dean raises two arguments. First, he argues that his trial attorney rendered ineffective assistance of counsel by (1) exhibiting racist behavior that infected the trial, and by (2) failing to introduce a recorded video of Sgt. Jason Pepper's interview of Dean at the hospital shortly after the incident that gave rise to his prosecution. Because Dean's trial attorney's performance was not deficient, and because Dean suffered no prejudice, his appeal should be denied and his convictions affirmed.

Respondent will address each of Dean's arguments in turn, but will first provide an overview of the law governing IAC claims.

I. <u>Legal Standard for an Ineffective Assistance of Counsel Claim</u>

Of course, the landmark case dealing with IAC claims in habeas corpus petitions is *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), in which the U.S. Supreme Court set forth the legal standard for assessing IAC claims. In that case, the Court held that in order to prevail in an IAC claim, a Petitioner must make two showings. First, the petitioner "must show that counsel's performance was deficient," which requires that the petitioner demonstrate that his trial counsel "made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment." *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984).

Additionally, a petitioner must "show that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness." Strickland v. Washington, 2 466 U.S. 668, 687-688 (1984). 3

In deciding IAC claims, "Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential," and "counsel is strongly presumed to have rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment."

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 689-690 (1984). As the Court explained:

A fair assessment of attorney performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time. Because of the difficulties inherent in making the evaluation, a court must indulge a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance; that is, the defendant must overcome the presumption that, under the circumstances, the challenged action might be considered sound trial strategy. There are countless ways to provide effective assistance in any given case. Even the best criminal defense attorneys would not defend a particular client in the same way.

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 689 (1984) (citations and quotes omitted).

Basically, in assessing a trial counsel's performance, there is a strong presumption that trial counsel's decisions could be considered "sound trial

20

1

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

strategy." If a petitioner is not able to overcome this strong presumption,

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

then he cannot succeed in showing that his trial counsel's performance was deficient, i.e., falling below an objective standard of reasonableness. Second, in addition to showing that trial counsel's performance was

deficient, a petitioner must also show that the deficient performance prejudiced the petitioner's case. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984).

The Court explained that not every error made by a trial attorney warrants reversal; rather, only those trial errors which actually prejudiced a petitioner's case entitle a petitioner to relief:

Attorney errors come in an infinite variety and are as likely to be utterly harmless in a particular case as they are to be prejudicial. They cannot be classified according to likelihood of causing prejudice. Nor can they be defined with sufficient precision to inform defense attorneys correctly just what conduct to avoid. Representation is an art, and an act or omission that is unprofessional in one case may be sound or even brilliant in another. Even if a defendant shows that particular errors of counsel were unreasonable, therefore, the defendant must show that they actually had an adverse effect on the defense.

It is not enough for the defendant to show that the errors had some conceivable effect on the outcome of the proceeding. Virtually every act or omission of counsel would meet that test, and not every error that conceivably could have influenced the outcome undermines the reliability of the result of the proceeding.

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 693 (1984).

In order to make a showing of prejudice, the petitioner must show

1 | "t'
2 | tri
3 | re
4 | pr
5 | bu
6 | ha
7 | ur

"that counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable." *Id.* In discussing the prejudice requirement, the Court further explained that in order to make a showing of prejudice, a petitioner "must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 694 (1984) (citations omitted).

The Court emphasized that a petitioner must make both showings: "Unless a defendant makes both showings, it cannot be said that the conviction...resulted from a breakdown in the adversary process that renders the result unreliable." *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984).

The Court also emphasized that a district court reviewing an IAC claim may address the prejudice prong and the deficiency prong in any order; in other words, if a district court concludes that a petitioner has suffered no prejudice, the court can dispose of a habeas petition without ever even addressing the deficiency prong. The Court explained:

Although we have discussed the performance component of an ineffectiveness claim prior to the prejudice component, there is no reason for a court deciding an ineffective assistance claim to approach

the inquiry in the same order or even to address both components of the inquiry if the defendant makes an insufficient showing on one. In particular, a court need not determine whether counsel's performance was deficient before examining the prejudice suffered by the defendant as a result of the alleged deficiencies. The object of an ineffectiveness claim is not to grade counsel's performance. If it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, which we expect will often be so, that course should be followed. Courts should strive to ensure that ineffectiveness claims not become so burdensome to defense counsel that the entire criminal justice system suffers as a result.

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 697 (1984).

Finally, it is important to remember that it is the petitioner who bears the burden of proving both prongs (i.e., the deficiency prong and the prejudice prong) in a habeas petition alleging an IAC claim. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984); see also *Means v. State*, 120 Nev. 1001, 1011 (2004). Furthermore, the petitioner has the burden of proving the facts underlying an IAC claim by a preponderance of the evidence. *Means v. State*, 120 Nev. 1001, 1012 (2004) ("[W]e now hold that a habeas corpus petitioner must prove the disputed factual allegations underlying his ineffective-assistance claim by a preponderance of the evidence").

II. Mr. Woodbury's performance was not deficient as a result of racial prejudice.

In ground one of his appeal, Dean argues that his trial attorney, Gary Woodbury, held racist views which affected his performance at trial. For the

following reasons, the State disagrees.

Dean points to three pieces of evidence in support of his argument that Woodbury held racist views that affected his advocacy: (1) Woodbury's use of an offensive racial epithet in a handwritten note to himself, (2) Woodbury's questioning of prospective jurors about racial prejudice during voir dire, and (3) Woodbury's questioning of Dean about his knowledge of knife-fighting during his direct examination of Dean.

As set forth below, none of the alleged incidents of racially-tinged advocacy constituted deficient performance on the part of Mr. Woodbury.

a. Woodbury's use of an offensive racial epithet in a handwritten note to himself does not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel.

First, while trial was still ongoing, Dean happened to observe a note that Woodbury had written on a notepad. The note read: "So Schenk is a ['N-word'] too"—a reference to one of the State's witnesses, Joseph Schenk, who, like Dean, was African American. (Respondent's Appendix [hereinafter "RA"], Vol. 1, p. 16). Understandably upset at his attorney's use of the offensive racial epithet, Dean wrote a letter to Woodbury after the trial, confronting him about his use of that word, and Woodbury wrote him back, addressing Dean's concerns. (RA, Vol. 1, pp. 18-28). Because of this conflict that developed between Woodbury and Dean, a new defense

attorney was appointed to represent Dean at his sentencing hearing. (RA, Vol. 1, p. 12).

At the habeas corpus evidentiary hearing, Mr. Woodbury testified about his use of that word in a hand-written note he had made during jury selection.

When petitioner's attorney asked Mr. Woodbury why he made the note regarding Schenk, Woodbury explained,

I know why I took the note regarding Mr. Schenk, if that's what you're asking...Mr. Dean was a black defendant. And the jury panel that was out there was—there were no black people on it....I was concerned, as you rationally have to be, whether or not the jury panel would attribute racial characteristics to Mr. Dean....And it was during that time [voir dire]...that it was also evident that Mr. Schenk could suffer from the same kind of prejudices that a jury panel might feel towards Mr. Dean. And that wasn't the first time I thought of it, it just happened to be the first time I wrote it down.

(AA, Vol. 2, pp. 136-137).

On cross-examination, Woodbury elaborated further: "It was also a question of putting the jury in the position of having—if they were going to take Mr. Dean down because of his race, they also had to take Schenk down because of his race." (AA, Vol. 2, p. 150).

In other words, Woodbury recognized that one of the State's key witnesses—Joseph Schenk—was also African American, and wondered whether Schenk might suffer from the same prejudices as his client. That's

the reason Woodbury wrote what he did on the notebook—and there was nothing racist in the intent of what Woodbury wrote. Rather, the inference of racism arises solely from Woodbury's choice to use a highly offensive racial epithet in describing the race of Schenk and Dean.

At the evidentiary hearing, Woodbury explained that he meant no offense by using that word. Specifically, he stated, "It was not intended to be an insult; it was something I simply wrote down. I would have proceeded at the voir dire process the same whether I wrote the note or not because it was already on my mind." (AA, Vol. 2, p. 150).

Mr. Woodbury then emphatically rejected the idea that he harbored any racial animus towards African Americans, or that any such prejudice influenced his advocacy in this case. Specifically, the exchange between Woodbury and the prosecutor is as follows:

- Q. Did your use of the N-word have any particular to you?
- A. No.
- Q. Do you have any particular animus or dislike towards African Americans?
- A. I do not.
- Q. Would your represent them any less zealously because of their race?
- A. I not only wouldn't because it would be immoral to do that, but also it would violate the rules of being a lawyer.
- Q. So it would be immoral and in violation of the rules of being a lawyer, correct?
- A. Yes.
- Q. And you would not do that?
- A. I would avoid it. -20-

14

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

15

16

17

18

19

And you did not do that in this case, correct? Q. 1 I absolutely did not. Α. In fact, over...the history of your life and your career as a 2 Q. lawyer, you've interacted with and well with people of other 3 races; is that correct? I have represented a number of African American clients and I A. have associated with a number of people of different races for a 4 variety of reasons. In fact, just to give one example, are you familiar with a 5 O. prosecutor by the name of Tiffany Hill that worked for the district attorney's office a number of years back? 6 Yes. A. 7 Q. And were you the district attorney at that time? A. So she worked for you? 8 Q. Yes. A. Was she African American? 9 Q. Yes. A. She was hired while you were district attorney, correct? 10 O. She was. Α. 11 (AA, Vol. 2, p. 151). 12 Mr. Woodbury's act of writing an offensive racial epithet on a 13 14 notepad was not ever communicated to the jury, nor was the note directed at 15 or intended to be communicated to Dean. (AA, Vol. 2, p. 182). It was simply 16 a personal note Woodbury made to himself addressing the issue of whether 17 racial prejudice might influence the jury's perception of one of the State's

18

19

the note itself had no direct impact the trial or jury deliberation.

witnesses (Joseph Schenk). Because the note was never disclosed to the jury,

Furthermore, Dean himself acknowledged at the evidentiary hearing that, aside from observing that Woodbury had used the "N-word" in a personal note on a legal pad, *Dean had never heard Woodbury make a disparaging remark about African Americans*. (AA, Vol. 2, p. 181).

Nevertheless, Dean argues that Woodbury's use of that word is reflective of a racist mindset on the part of Woodbury, and that Woodbury's alleged racist tendencies influenced Woodbury's advocacy of Dean. Specifically, Dean argues that Woodbury's allegedly racist mindset manifested itself during voir dire, and then again during Woobury's direct examination of Dean. Respondent will address each of those allegations in turn.

b. Woodbury's questioning of prospective jurors was sound trial strategy and did not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel.

Before trial, Mr. Dean, who is African American, was highly concerned about his ability to obtain a fair trial in front of an all-white or predominantly white jury. Dean expressed this concern to his attorney, Mr. Woodbury, who took measures during jury selection to address the issue of racial prejudice.

Mr. Woodbury broached the topic in the following manner:

Q. Did anybody on the jury notice whether Mr. Dean is black or not? -22-

Pretty clear, isn't it?

Anybody on the jury notice whether or not there is another black person in the room?

Pretty clear, isn't it?

Did you ever think you would be sitting as a juror with a black guy sitting in a defendant's box and you would be asked to be fair about him?

Anybody that thinks they can't be fair?

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